
 

 

Major Developments Panel  AGENDA  

 
 

DATE: 

 

Wednesday 12 July 2017 

 

TIME: 

 

7.30 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Rooms 1 & 2,  Harrow Civic Centre, 

Station Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY 

 

 
 
 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3) 

   

  Chair: 

 

Councillor Keith Ferry  

 

  Councillors: 

 
Sue Anderson 
Sachin Shah 
Anne Whitehead 

 

Stephen Greek 
Susan Hall 
Barry Macleod-Cullinane 
 

 
 

 
 

Reserve Members: 

 
1. Maxine Henson 
2. Varsha Parmar 
3. David Perry 
4. Sasi Suresh 
 

1. Marilyn Ashton 
2. June Baxter 
3. Norman Stevenson 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Contact:  Miriam Wearing, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8424 1542    E-mail:  miriam.wearing@harrow.gov.uk 
 



Major Developments Panel - 12 July 2017 2 

Useful Information 

 

 
Meeting details: 
 
This meeting is open to the press and public.   
 
Directions to the Civic Centre can be found at: 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/site/scripts/location.php.  
 
 

Filming / recording of meetings 
 
The Council will audio record Public and Councillor Questions.  The audio recording will be 
placed on the Council’s website. 
 
Please note that proceedings at this meeting may be photographed, recorded or filmed.  If 
you choose to attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being photographed, 
recorded and/or filmed.  
 
When present in the meeting room, silent mode should be enabled for all mobile devices. 
 
 

Meeting access / special requirements.  
 
The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special needs.  There are accessible toilets 
and lifts to meeting rooms.  If you have special requirements, please contact the officer 
listed on the front page of this agenda. 
 
An induction loop system for people with hearing difficulties is available.  Please ask at the 
Security Desk on the Middlesex Floor.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda publication date:  Tuesday 4 July 2017 

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/site/scripts/location.php


Major Developments Panel - 12 July 2017 3 

 
 AGENDA - PART I   

 
1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR    
 
 To consider the appointment of a Vice-Chair to the Panel for the Municipal Year 

2017/18. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Panel; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

4. MINUTES   (Pages 5 - 10) 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2016 be taken as read and 

signed as a correct record. 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS *    
 
 To receive any public questions received in accordance with Executive Procedure 

Rule 49 (Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 
Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received and there be a 
time limit of 15 minutes. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, 10 July 2017.  
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk    

No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

6. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 47 (Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 

mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk


Major Developments Panel - 12 July 2017 4 

7. DEPUTATIONS    
 
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 48 

(Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 

8. INFORMATION REPORT - HARROW TOWN CENTRE VISION   (Pages 11 - 26) 
 
 To receive a report from the Divisional Director Regeneration and Planning 

 
9. NEW CIVIC CENTRE    
 
 To receive a presentation 

 
10. BRYON QUARTER    
 
 To receive a presentation 

 
11. UPDATE ON VARIOUS PROJECTS    
 
12. FUTURE TOPICS AND PRESENTATIONS    
 
13. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II - NIL   

 
 * DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE   
 The Council will audio record item 4 (Public Questions) and will place the audio recording on the 

Council’s website, which will be accessible to all. 
 
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 

 



 

 Major Developments Panel - 9 November 2016 - 34 - 

 
 
 

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS PANEL   

MINUTES 

 

9 NOVEMBER 2016 

 
 
Chair: * Councillor Keith Ferry 
   
Councillors: * Sue Anderson 

* Stephen Greek 
* Susan Hall  
 

* Barry Macleod-Cullinane 
† Varsha Parmar 
* Sachin Shah 
 

   
* Denotes Member present 
 † Denotes apologies received 
 
 

72. Attendance by Reserve Members   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance. 
 

73. Declarations of Interest   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that the following interest was declared: 
 
Agenda Item 8 – Strategy for Major Development in Harrow, 9.Major Projects 
Update 
Councillor Susan Hall declared a non-pecuniary interest in that she owned a 
business in Wealdstone.  If at any point it became a pecuniary interest she 
would leave the meeting. 
 

74. Minutes   
 
RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2016, be 
taken as read and signed as a correct record subject to the insertion of ‘A 
Member stated that the housing zone bid documents encouraged developers 
to intensify development.’ in minute 69. 
 

5

Agenda Item 4
Pages 5 to 10



 

- 35 -  Major Developments Panel - 9 November 2016 

75. Public Questions, Petitions and Deputations   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions, petitions or deputations were 
received at this meeting. 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS   
 

76. Vaughan Road Regeneration Scheme   
 
The Panel received a presentation from the Harrow Regeneration Team and 
Adam Khan Architects, who had been appointed by the Team in June, on the 
Vaughan Road Regeneration Scheme. 
 
The development site, currently a Council owned car park, was situated 
between the urban district and the more residential suburban area and due to 
the very good transport links was considered in principle to be a car free 
development.  The initial thoughts were to improve the existing cycling and 
pedestrian routes between West Harrow and the Town Centre, improve 
passive surveillance and create a green area.  Plans included a distinctive 
courtyard with three blocks of varying height to work with the local context 
providing 3 x 3 bedroom with wheelchair access, 14 x 1 bedroom and 15 x 2 
bedroom accommodation.  The tenure of private rented and intermediate 
tenure would be confirmed on completion of the viability assessment.  There 
would be no residential accommodation on the ground floor which would be 
for workspace and community use. 
 
A number of public consultation events had been undertaken, which included 
a specific community meeting on transport and parking, and the responses 
made were outlined.  Measures as a result of the feedback included the 
removal of the left turn restriction into Vaughan Road from Bessborough Road 
enabling additional parking spaces in place of double yellow lines, adjustment 
of the footprint to increase the notional green, and provision of an additional 
three disabled and three resident car parking spaces. 
 
In response to questions from Members regarding the level of parking 
provision, it was stated that: 
 

 the additional on street parking comprised seven or eight spaces 
together with six on site spaces including three disabled spaces; 

. 

 the PTAL rating and access to public transport enabled car free 
development and as such the occupants would be unable to apply for a 
parking permit in the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ).  The West 
Harrow census return indicated that the 70% overall car ownership 
reduced to 37% for those in rented accommodation.  A 2015 Council 
survey which showed the car park to be underutilised had been 
confirmed by two subsequent surveys despite the closure of the 
Gayton Road car park.  Officers were satisfied that there was sufficient 
alternative provision but were unable to control the car ownership of 
occupants; 

  

6



 

Major Developments Panel - 9 November 2016 - 36 - 

 spaces were available in the Vaughan Road CPZ in the evenings and 
at weekends.  A request had been received from residents for an 
extension of the CPZ from the current two hours a day to further 
discourage new residents. 

 
A Member expressed concern that car parking problems would be 
exacerbated by the College Road development and indicated that the  
occupants of the Morrisons development used the Vaughan Road car park. 
There would be displacement to the area within the CPZ that did not have 
controlled parking.  If the bollard to prevent a left turn was removed drivers 
would drop off passengers in Vaughan Road. 
 
Reference was made to a 2015 travel survey that indicated that the Queens 
House car park was used to no more than 20% capacity.  The Panel was 
informed that an improvement in the general condition of the car park would 
increase the usage. 
 
The Panel was informed of the following: 
 

 the regeneration team was developing the brief for the ground level use 
which was anticipated to be office type, flexible workspace and 
community use in the north and evening/community use for the flexible 
area to the south;. 

 

 the concern regarding demand for the ground floor use due to previous 
experience at Eastcroft and empty office blocks elsewhere in Harrow 
was not entirely comparable as Eastcroft had not had sufficient space 
and the disproportionate residential element had discouraged 
prospective tenants.  With the right brief, there was demand from small 
businesses, particularly if the price, location and rent were right.  The 
premises would be clearly targeted as employment space and not for 
major employers.  It was noted that the Council’s research department 
had calculated that 40,000 sqm of office space had been lost due to 
residential conversions and office rates in the Town Centre had 
increased by 10%; 
 

 concern that a lower rent would result in tenants relocating from other 
office space which would then become empty and converted to 
residential was noted but the development would target start up 
businesses.and demand would be high as positioned next to the 
underpass.  The selection criteria would ensure that consideration 
would be given to businesses currently based in bedrooms rather than 
those already in office space and which would spend locally.    

 
RESOLVED:  That the presentation be noted. 
 

77. Strategy for Major Development in Harrow   
 
The Panel received a report regarding the strategy, objectives and aims of the 
Council in dealing with and developing strategic sites within the Borough.  The 
officer introduced the report stating that the main focus was in the Opportunity 

7



 

- 37 -  Major Developments Panel - 9 November 2016 

Area with the provision of in excess of 5000 homes over a ten year period and 
a significant increase in workspace.  
 
Members made the following comments: 
 

 to make a charge for tables and chairs outside premises was not 
business friendly and did not encourage business development; 

 

 the possibility of the inclusion of targets for local suppliers in tenders 
could increase costs for new businesses; 
 

 in the absence of consistent typologies there was no vision of what 
Harrow would look like; 
 

 the strategy needed to consider the requirements of ‘empty nesters’; 
 

 a car parking strategy was mentioned but development of car parks 
resulted in a loss of parking for current users.  The effect on car 
parking of all the current development and potential development and 
on the capacity of roads and junctions should be documented; 

 
A Member reported on a review undertaken for the London Assembly which 
indicated that a number of comparable boroughs to Harrow had adopted 
higher parking ratios of a least one car parking space per unit.  The boroughs 
had not reduced the parking aspirations in the stage 2 response and this had 
not been challenged by Transport for London (TfL).  
 
A Member who both represented and lived in Harrow Town Centre reported 
her experience that there was a lot less car ownership in the area and there 
were excellent transport routes to work.  Car parking encouraged people to 
drive with the resultant health conditions. 
 
In response to questions the officers reported that: 
 

 the creation of 3000 new jobs would arise from new workspace, 
development of the Kodak site and retail.  Small businesses moving 
from bedrooms would employ only one person.  It was agreed that 
information on the location of 3000 new jobs would be circulated to the 
Panel. 

 

 detailed work had been undertaken with regard to the town centre 
shopping centre but this was not the subject of the report which 
concerned the strategy for major development; 
 

 the supply of 5500 homes was to implement the strategy.  As it was not 
possible, to expand in order to reduce congestion, officers had to 
identify efficiencies.  The town centre parking strategy provided a clear 
view of the required capacity.  Scatter of sites in different contexts and 
not one size affects all; 
 

 a robust approach to materials was required with bricks playing a major 
role being as the best lasting and local supply; 

8



 

Major Developments Panel - 9 November 2016 - 38 - 

 

 downsizing requirements had been taken into account and included 
lifts and views; 
 

 options of car clubs and car share and a car pool for the Council 
workforce. 

 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; 

. 
(2) a report be submitted to the next  meeting on the town centre, night 

time economy and how the 3000 new jobs would be created. 
 

78. Major Projects Update   
 
The Divisional Director of Planning and Regeneration updated the Panel on 
the major development projects in Harrow which provided summary data on 
each scheme. 
 
In response to a question, it was reported that Barretts were delivering the 
development at 51 College Road on behalf of Hyde and were working with the 
original architects and plans. 
 
With regard to Harrow Arts Centre, it was noted that there were currently no 
plans for development due to Cultura being unable to raise sufficient capital, 
the Council hoped to continue to run it although too early to say.  The 
Regeneration Team was not considering the site.  
 
In response to a question, it was confirmed that the Council had the capacity 
to manage the listed developments, the list was a useful aide memoir as there 
was so much going on.  It was noted that the Chair, as Portfolio Holder, would 
receive an invitation to the scrutiny review on regeneration business case. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 
 

79. Future Topics and Presentations   
 
RESOLVED:  That reports be submitted to the next meeting on: 
 
1. Redevelopment of the current Civic Centre Site (Poets Corner) 
 
2. Linked Up Vision for Harrow Town Centre. 
 
(Note:  The meeting, having commenced at 7.30 pm, closed at 9.45 pm). 
 
 
 
 
 
(Signed) COUNCILLOR KEITH FERRY 
Chair 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

MAJOR DEVEOPMENTS 

PANEL  

Date of Meeting: 

 

12th July 2017 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – 

Harrow Town Centre Vision 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Paul Nichols - Divisional Director 
Regeneration & Planning 
 

Exempt: 

 

No 

Wards affected: 

 

All wards 

Enclosures: 

 

Appendix A - Extracts From Harrow 
And Wealdstone Area Action Plan 
Appendix B - Key Sites By Sub Area 
Across The Town Centre 
Appendix C - Vitality Information 
 

Section 1 – Summary 

 

 
This report sets out the current vision for the town centre as set out in the 
Development Plan and summarises the various projects that are occurring in 
the town centre to help deliver the vision. It goes on to identify current issues 
in the town centre that have been identified through working with town centre 
stakeholders.  
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
 

11

Agenda Item 8
Pages 11 to 26



 

 

2 Section 2 – Report 

 
2.2 At the meeting of the Major Developments Panel on 9th November 2016, it was 

resolved that a report on a “Linked Up Vision for Harrow Town Centre” would be 
submitted to the next meeting.  

 
2.3 This report summarises the current vision for the town centre and the various 

projects that have occurred and are occurring in the town centre to help deliver the 
vision.  

 
Current situation 
2.4 The Harrow Core Strategy and Harrow and Wealdstone AAP sets out a planning 

framework for Harrow Town Centre by identifying a vision for the area and 
provides a set of 11 objectives for the town centre (see below). This includes the 
objective to deliver 2800 new homes and 3000 jobs. The relevant parts of the Core 
Strategy and AAP are set out in Appendix A. However, the key parts are the town 
centre vision and objectives which are summarised below. 

2.5 Harrow Town Centre will be a vibrant and attractive Metropolitan Centre having 
benefited from additional retail, leisure and hotel development, and having 
renewed much of its older office stock. It will have developed its role as the prime 
location for central public services including the relocation of the Council’s Civic 
Centre towards the end of Plan period. Wealdstone will have developed its own, 
distinctive identity as a successful district shopping centre supported by local 
residents and a strong business community whose presence has been 
transformed by the intensification of employment and carefully managed 
redevelopment of the surrounding industrial estates. Station Road will have 
benefited from redevelopment and environmental improvement as the principal 
component that binds the two centres together. Harrow-on-the-Hill Station, Harrow 
Bus Station and Harrow & Wealdstone Station will be accessible major public 
transport nodes. New development will have contributed to a coherent new 
character achieving high standards of sustainability, public realm and residential 
quality. 

 
2.6 To regenerate and re-enliven the central hub of Harrow with a distinctive and 

widely recognised identity as the Heart of Metro-Land in London, providing high 
quality shopping, recreation, civic, commercial and community facilities that are 
well connected to the surrounding residential suburbs, and that include well 
integrated, sustainable high quality new homes that create a sense of community 
within the Heart of Harrow. 

 
Harrow Town Centre Objectives 
• Create a vibrant ‘new’ place that celebrates Harrow’s diversity, exhibits exemplar 

design, and promotes a strong sense of community (1) 
• Strengthen the role of Harrow town centre as a prosperous Metropolitan centre 

within outer London (2) 
• Increase the Borough’s ‘visibility’ within the west London sub-region and regionally 

to secure appropriate levels of investment from private and public sector partners 
(5) 

• Renew Harrow town centre’s office stock to meet local business needs. (8) 
• Increase retail, leisure, and hotel provision within Harrow town centre (9) 

12



• In the first instance, direct key community facilities serving the entire Borough to 
locate in Harrow town centre (10) 

• Improve the environmental quality, physical accessibility, capacity and user safety 
of Harrow-on-the-Hill train station and Harrow Bus Station (12) 

• Improve the amenity and connectivity of Station Road.(4) 
• Secure improvements to the accessibility of parks and open spaces by walking 

and cycling from within the Heart of Harrow (11) 
 
2.7 The AAP also identifies a number of sub areas across the area (Station Road; 

Harrow Town Centre West; Harrow Town Centre Central; Harrow Town Centre 
East), each with a different character and set of objectives as well as aims and 
objectives for key development sites within each of these areas. These are 
summarised in Appendix B. 

 
2.8 Since the AAP was published in 2013, market and policy changes at national, 

regional and local levels have affected the context for delivery. These include: 
 

- Robust strengthening of development markets in suburban areas of London, as 
more central areas become too expensive to deliver mainstream residential 
growth 

- Town centres are rebalancing their offer in response to internet shopping and a 
loss in daytime spending. . E commerce and reduction in the daytime economy 
requires town centres to diversify their offer and increase the emphasis on food 
and beverage, leisure and non-retail service sectors. Generally this also means a 
move towards a stronger evening economy offer (which includes restaurants and 
cafes).  

- Permitted development allowing change of use from office to residential has 
undermined the employment base in Harrow Town Centre by reducing the supply 
of office space. As a consequence, there are fewer office workers in the town 
centre during the day time 

- The designation of the Harrow and Wealdstone Opportunity Area within the 
London Plan as a Housing Zone by the GLA, for which the Mayor of London is 
offering incentives to encourage the building of 5,500 homes over the next 10 
years. 

- The closure of a number of hotels in and around the town centre, leaving us with 
virtually no operational town centre hotel accommodation 

- The decision to relocate the new Civic Centre to Wealdstone rather than Harrow 
Town Centre, in order to stimulate regeneration of the District Centre and utilise 
the Greenhill Way site for a wider range of town centre uses 

- The announcement by TfL, following extensive lobbying activity, that step free 
access will be introduced to Harrow on the Hill Station this year 

 
2.9 The vacancy rate in Harrow Town Centre, one of the key indicators of a town 

centre‟s health, has halved since its peak in 2012 to 5.7%. The council has played 
a substantial part in this, with investment in the public realm, the creation of a 
Business Improvement District to deliver events, engagement with developers to 
accelerate and shape regeneration in the Opportunity Area, and delivering a range 
of award winning targeted business support initiatives. 

 
Progress so Far 
2.10 The clear vision for the town centre, as set out in 2013, largely remains relevant. 

There has been very significant progress in implementing that vision, in 
accordance with the Council‟s Planning Policy. Most of the major developments 

13



envisaged are now in progress and there has been significant investment to 
improve the public realm of the town centre. Nevertheless, the role of town centres 
has changed and continues to change since the vision for Harrow Town Centre 
was written as part of the Harrow and Wealdstone AAP.  
 

New Development 
2.11 The AAP identified a number of development sites in the town centre. Due to the 

recession, many of these sites remained dormant for a number of years. However, 
over the past 3-4 years, there has been a marked upturn in development activity. 
The table below summarises progress on key sites within the town centre.  

 

Site Name/Location 

(AAP Site number) 

Summary of 

Development 

Developer Progress 

Bradstowe House 

(Site 14 Bradstowe 

House) 

Residential 314 units  Greystar Completed 

Harrow Square  

(Site 17: 19-51 College 

Road - Former Post 

Office Site): 

318 x studios, one, two 
and three-bedroom 
apartments 
 
A 1,450sq m library. 
 
Public space for 2,413sq 
m for street markets and 
pop-up events. 
 
862sq m of retail, office, 
cafes, restaurants, pubs 
& bars floorspace 

Barratt 

Homes/Hyde 

Group 

Under 

construction.  

Scheduled for  

completi

on in 

2019 

Lyon Square, Lyon Road 

(Site 21 Lyon Road) 

310 x 1, 2 & 3 bedroom 

flats 

Redrow Under 

construction 

First 

completions 

expected 

autumn 2017 

College Gardens  

Phase 1 

(Kings & Queens House) 

 Dandi Living In Planning 

stages 

College Gardens Phase 

2 & 3: (Part Site 15: 

College Road West) 

Residential, retail , 490 

residential units,  4722 

sq m retail, 4456 sq m 

offices 

Dandi Living EIA 

screening 

opinion for 

development 

submitted  

14



Site Name/Location 

(AAP Site number) 

Summary of 

Development 

Developer Progress 

Greenhill Way Car Park 

(Site 13: Greenhill Way 

Car Park) 

Commercial & residential 

development, including 

offices, retail, hotel and 

leisure facilities. 

Retention of significant 

proportion of parking 

provision on site 

N/A Council 

currently 

seeking a 

development 

partner 

Lexicon, Gayton Road 

(Site 22 :Gayton Road) 

Residential 

355 new homes. 477 sq 

m Commercial space 

including affordable 

workspace and café. 

Fairview Under 

construction 

 
2.12 Linked to the development of these sites, the council carried out a Town Centre 

traffic/parking strategy in 2015. The study concluded that strategically located and 
high quality car parking will continue to play a key role in delivering such 
aspirations and the implications of any car parking site re-development therefore 
needs to be balanced against its impact on town centre sustainability and viability. 
The conclusions from the study have been used in developing proposals for the 
keys sites in the town centre.  

 
 

2.13 Since the AAP was written, the council has embarked on a major regeneration 
programme, focussing on the delivery of new homes and jobs within the Harrow 
and Wealdstone Opportunity Area and the reinforcement of both Harrow town 
centre and Wealdstone district centre. This has been supported by the designation 
of the Opportunity Area as a Housing Zone that has increased the number of 
planned residential units and provided access to further GLA funding to help 
achieve these targets. 

 
Regeneration Programme & Housing Zone 

2.14 The development vision for the town centre, mapped out in the AAP, is now well 
on the way to full implementation. Most of the large town centre sites identified in 
the AAP have been brought forward and are now on site (or complete). In addition, 
the Council‟s Regeneration programme focuses on the development of Council 
owned sites within the Opportunity Area. Within Harrow Town Centre, the 
development of the Greenhill Way car park (AAP Site 13) provides the Council 
with an opportunity to contribute to the town centre offer. The Council is looking to 
procure a development partner for the site, which would include both commercial 
and residential development, including offices, retail, hotel and leisure facilities. 
The council is committed to retaining a significant proportion of parking provision 
on site.  

 
Public Realm Projects 

2.15 Following successful bids for funding by the council in 2011 and 2012, the Mayor‟s 
Outer London Fund awarded £472,000 from Round One and £1.8m from Round 

15



Two, matched by £1m from Harrow, to help make Harrow town centre a more 
resilient and inviting place.  

 
2.16 The funding has been used to  

 Remodel Lowlands Recreation Ground with new entrance, planting, & play areas 
and a cafe are helping to create a pleasant leafy environment.  A new large 
outdoor performance space, now known as Arc House has been created. Arc 
House now provides space for community events in the afternoons and evenings 
and has a full programme of events for this summer. 

 

 Undertake public realm improvements in St Ann‟s Road & Havelock Place, giving 
it a stronger identity through de-cluttering and smartening up the area with new 
lighting, paving and street furniture. The regenerated St Ann‟s Road has provided 
the space for markets and street entertainment in the town centre that in turn is 
funded and delivered by the Harrow Town Centre BID.  

 
Harrow on the Hill Station 
 
2.17 The Mayor of London announced that Harrow-on-the-Hill will be one of 30 

stations to get step-free access in a £200m, five-year investment plan across the 
London Underground.  

 
2.18 TfL are also considering major property investment around the tube and bus 

station. The one-hectare site around the station could deliver a 600-home 
scheme, which would improve transport and access in the town centre.  

 
Private Sector Investment 
2.20 Over the last few years, there has been significant investment in both the shopping 

centres and individual shops in the town centre. This includes 
• £3m refurbishment of the Debenhams store  
• £8m St George‟s Shopping Centre upgrade and new store refits (Ask, 

Prezzo, McDonalds, Pizza Express, Nando‟s, Deichmann, H&M Kids, 
Frankie & Benny‟s and Vue)  

• £2m St Ann‟s Shopping Centre store fit outs (H&M and Claire‟s)  
• Shop Development Programme (HSBC, Goldlovers, 3 Store, Chocolate 

Room) 
 
Harrow Town Centre Business Improvement District 
2.19 In 2012/13, Round 2 Outer London Fund money was secured from the GLA to 

fund town centre management, deliver events, develop a Business Improvement 
District (BID) as well as complete public realm improvements in the town centre 
and Lowlands Recreation Ground outlined above.  
 

2.20 In December 2013, businesses voted “Yes” to establish a BID, which was 
launched in April 2014.  Since then, the BID has developed and implemented a 
number of projects to improve the town centre, focussing around events, safety, 
promotion and marketing.  The Harrow BID raises approximately £250,000 from 
town centre businesses that is used to fund these projects.  

 
2.21 Included within the BID prospectus was that the BID will undertake research to 

determine the future positioning for the town centre and work with owners, agents 
and the Council to develop a mix of shops, restaurants, leisure uses, offices and 
alternative uses which reflects the changing face of the High Street. 

16



 
2.22 F&P Retail Consultants were employed by the BID to look at catchment area, retail 

spend and absent retailers in the town centre. Some of the reports key 
conclusions and recommendations are summarised below. 

 
Conclusions:  

• Harrow‟s catchment contains higher proportions of Family households than 
the London average. Average household income across the catchment is just 
below average. However, spend per household on non-grocery shopping is 
16% above average, driven mainly by larger households. This high spending 
is a powerful message for target retailers  

• The largest ACORN Category amongst Harrow‟s catchment residents is 
Comfortable Communities. “Affluent Achievers” are also over-represented 
amongst residents. However, both these groups are under-represented as 
shoppers 

• Clothing and Footwear (C&F) and Food & Beverage (F&B) provide the 
largest opportunity to increase turnover. Addressing the deficiencies in the 
C&F offer is a key requirement.  

• A number of anchor stores in Harrow are under sized. Addressing this issue 
in conjunction with adding more retailers will assist in reducing leakage to 
competing locations 

• The desire for a wider range of shops and particularly C&F was clearly 
expressed 

 
Recommendations: 

• F&B zoning – Learn from best practice and latest trends at other town 
centres, create a vibrant destination where people can eat, drink and relax 
from day into the evening, in safety and comfort  

• Bring relevance to the town centre where a diverse community can be served 
better. Ethnic groups should be served better through targeted retail and F&B 
offers. The East shopping Centre in East London, for example, strongly 
enforces the appetite for a more „cosmopolitan‟ retail offer than is currently 
available in Harrow  

 
 
Policy Development 
2.23 In recognition of the changes that have happened in retail, office, and the 

economy since the AAP was written, the Council recently appointed consultants 
Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners (now known as Lichfields) to undertake an 
Economic Development Needs Assessment study of the borough. This includes 
looking at future demand for office, retail and commercial floor space across the 
borough, and the potential demand for other town centre uses.  
 

2.24 The study concluded that: 
• Harrow Town Centre is the largest shopping destination in the Borough and 

has the best prospects for attracting major development particular in terms of 
higher order comparison goods shopping. Residents in the Borough also 
shop at competing centres and catchment areas overlap. 

• Competition is expected to increase, including on-line shopping, and Harrow 
will need to improve its offer in order to maintain its market share and 
retention of expenditure. 

• Harrow town centre is defined as “Middle” in terms of market position, below 
some of its main competitors i.e. Brent Cross (Upper Middle), Westfield 

17



London (Upscale) and the West End (Upscale). In terms of market position it 
is on a par with Watford, Uxbridge, Enfield and Wood Green, but above 
Kilburn (Lower Middle) and Wembley (Lower Middle). This classification 
suggests Harrow town centre caters for mass market demand rather than the 
luxury or discount ends of the spectrum.  

• There is a perceived under-supply of high specification, modern office space 
in the Borough. Rental values particularly for Grade A space, which are 
reported to have risen by between 50-70% to c.£25-£30 per sq ft in light of 
reduced levels of supply. In this context, market feedback indicated that a 
„tipping point‟ may have been reached whereby the building of new office 
stock is becoming viable. 

 
2.25 Regarding potential demand for other town centre uses, Lichfields looked at 

cinema, Private Health and Fitness Clubs, & Tenpin Bowling. 
 
Cinema: Lichfields concluded that there could be scope for a small boutique 
cinema over the plan period, but not a large multiplex cinema. Harrow town centre 
is likely to be the most viable location for this facility. 
 
Private Health and Fitness Clubs: Lichfields suggest there is scope for two large 
health and fitness facilities (over 100 stations each) in the Borough over the plan 
period, or four medium sized facilities (50-60 stations). 
 
Tenpin Bowling:  There is theoretical scope for a tenpin bowling facility in the 
Borough during the plan period, however the lack of large sites for this form of low 
density development may constrain opportunities for this use. 

 
Operator Demand 
2.26 Lichfields were also asked to look at the level of operator demand in Harrow. The 

“Requirements List” provides an online database of commercial property 
requirements specifically for LB Harrow. The results for the main centre in LB 
Harrow (January 2017) suggests that Harrow Town Centre has the best prospects 
for attracting multiple operators. However, the list of requirements is relatively 
short and there are duplicates where operators could consider one or other centre 
but not both. They concluded that overall the current demand from multiple 
retailers appears to be limited. 

 
2.27 Based on these findings, Lichfields recommendations are: 

• To promote Harrow town centre as the main centre in the Borough and the 
main focus for major retail and leisure development.  

• Seek to identify opportunities to accommodate around 16,000 sq.m gross of 
Class A retail uses by 2026. Explore longer term opportunities to 
accommodate an additional 35,000 sq.m gross of Class A retail uses 
between 2026 and 2036. This longer term potential should be monitored and 
kept under review.  

• Seek to maintain the Borough‟s market share of retail and leisure expenditure 
in the face of increasing competition e.g. Brent Cross by attracting new 
investment and development within town centres and regeneration projects.  

2.28 These recommendations would be considered as part of any review of the Harrow 
Local Plan / Harrow and Wealdstone AAP, which is anticipated to commence 
within the next 12 months in responses to changes in national and regional 
planning policy, including the publication of the draft new London Plan in autumn 
2017. 

18



 
Stakeholder Engagement 
2.29 Through both work undertaken by Harrow Council and with the Business 

Improvement District, there has been on- going dialogue with the owners of both 
St George‟s and St Ann‟s Shopping Centres. This has provided essential market 
intelligence on how the town centre is performing as a whole and also on the 
needs and requirements of town centre operators. 

 
2.30 As a result of this work, the Council has been able to understand the needs of 

retail and other leisure operators and look to provide suitable accommodation in 
future development.  

 
Town Centre Vitality and Viability 
2.31 The Council along with its partners continue to monitor the health of the town 

centre, through footfall monitoring, vacancy levels and town centre uses.  
 
2.32 Latest monitoring information provided by the BID shows that footfall has 

increased steadily over the last year. At the end of May 2017, footfall for Harrow 
Town Centre was 6.4% up on the previous year, while footfall for the year to date 
was 7.2% higher on the previous year.  

 
2.33 Although vacancy levels reached a peak in June 2012 (9.7%), they have 

continued to decline slowly since and are now at similar levels to pre-recession, 
currently (as at April 2017) 5.4% of the total number of units in the town centre are 
vacant.  

 
2.34 While the proportion of retail units has remained relatively constant, there has 

been a shift towards more restaurant and food uses and away from professional 
and financial services. Over the last 5 years, Harrow Town Centre has seen an 
18.6% increase in the number of restaurants and cafes with the result that 
restaurants and cafés now make up just over 15% of the number of shops in the 
town centre as compared to 12.8% in 2008 [See appendix C].  

 
2.35 This trend will be accelerated by the regeneration of Harrow. There are large 

schemes already on site at Harrow Square and Lyon Rd, as well as recently 
completed schemes at Bradstowe House and a number of other sites, which in 
combination will significantly increase the size of the customer base for eating out 
and for the town centre as a whole. The planned residential growth in Harrow town 
centre bringing new homes over the next 8/9years will reinforce the trend towards 
the need to cater for an evening economy, as well as for convenience retail and a 
wide range of retail services. 

 

Section 3 – Further Information 

 
3.1 Through work the by the Council and liaison with stakeholders, the following town 

centre issues have been identified.  
 

• There appears to be limited demand from multiple retailers looking for 
space in Harrow Town Centre; although this could in part reflect market 
awareness of the limited physical opportunities for retail growth in Harrow. One 
exception is in the discount food retail sector, where there is intense competition 
for new sites and Harrow is a target. 

19



 
• By contrast, those multiples that are located in the town centre tend to 
trade well for the size of the unit. Current operators have indicated that they 
would be happy to trade from larger units in the town centre if these were 
available.  
 
• There is an urgent need to re-invigorate the hospitality sector in Harrow 
town centre, with the introduction of new hotels as well as a diverse evening 
economy offer. There is evidence of market demand from operators, but a 
shortage of „oven-ready‟ sites.  
 
• The catchment area of the town centre is relatively small, for a 
Metropolitan Centre, with average spend lower than comparable town centres. 
There appears to be a loyal shopper base close to the town centre.  
 
• Footfall in the town centre has increased markedly over the last 12 months 
in contrast with national statistics. Across London, the retail and leisure sectors 
have proved to be resilient in recent years, but it is reassuring to see that activity 
levels are currently growing, despite increasingly keen competition both online 
and in neighbouring centres. 
 
• Competition from larger nearby town centres has continued to grow as 
Watford, Ealing, and Uxbridge have diversified their offer. There is also on going 
competition from Westfield, Brent Cross and Oxford Street.  

 
3.2 With a relatively small catchment area, increased competition may impact on the 

town centre in the medium term, particularly as the very large scale expansion of 
Brent Cross is implemented.  

 
3.3 A new version of the London Plan is expected this year and the Council‟s 

Development Plan will need to be reviewed in the light of this. This report and 
continued monitoring of issues in Harrow Town Centre will provide a clear policy 
background to inform the review.  

 

Section 4 – Financial Implications 

None  
 

Section 5 - Equalities implications 

 
Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  No  
 
If no, state why an EqIA was not carried out below: Information Report.  
 

Section 6 – Council Priorities  

 
The Council‟s vision: 
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
The regeneration of Harrow Town Centre is one of the Council‟s objectives under the 
“Build A Better Harrow” strand of the Council‟s Corporate Plan.  
 

20



 

    
on behalf of the 

Name: Jessie Man   Chief Financial Officer 

 
Date: 30/06/2017 

   

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO 
 

 

Section 7 - Contact Details and Background Papers 

 

Contact:  
David Sklair, External Funding Manager - Economic Development  
Tel: 020 8736 6846 
 

Background Papers:  None 

21



APPENDIX A - EXTRACTS FROM HARROW AND WEALDSTONE 
AREA ACTION PLAN 
 
Harrow Town Centre Vision 
Harrow town centre will be a vibrant and attractive Metropolitan Centre having benefited 
from additional retail, leisure and hotel development, and having renewed much of its 
older office stock. It will have developed its role as the prime location for central public 
services including the relocation of the Council‟s Civic Centre towards the end of Plan 
period.  
To regenerate and re-enliven the central hub of Harrow with a distinctive and widely 
recognised identity as the Heart of Metro-Land in London, providing high quality 
shopping, recreation, civic, commercial and community facilities that are well connected 
to the surrounding residential suburbs, and that include well integrated, sustainable high 
quality new homes that create a sense of community within the Heart of Harrow. 
 
Objectives 
• Create a vibrant „new‟ place that celebrates Harrow‟s diversity, exhibits exemplar 
design, and promotes a strong sense of community (1) 
• Strengthen the role of Harrow town centre as a prosperous Metropolitan centre 
within outer London (2) 
• Increase the Borough‟s „visibility‟ within the west London sub-region and 
regionally to secure appropriate levels of investment from private and public sector 
partners (5) 
• Renew Harrow town centre‟s office stock to meet local business needs. (8) 
• Increase retail, leisure, and hotel provision within Harrow town centre (9) 
• In the first instance, direct key community facilities serving the entire Borough to 
locate in Harrow town centre (10) 
• Improve the environmental quality, physical accessibility, capacity and user 
safety of Harrow-on-the-Hill train station and Harrow Bus Station (12) 
• Improve the amenity and connectivity of Station Road.(4) 
• Secure improvements to the accessibility of parks and open spaces by walking 
and cycling from within the Heart of Harrow (11) 
 
Spatial Strategy: what this all means 
 
3.18 Reasserting Harrow and the Intensification Area to its Heart of Metro-land status 
means building on the exceptional, well established Metroland qualities while 
introducing new qualities to complement and strengthen these.  
This will involve:  
• Changing the land use mix – more residential, more smaller business, less 
industrial activity, more open space. 
• Providing a better retail offer within Harrow town centre – better quality shops 
and a thriving evening economy. 
• More leisure and cultural facilities. 
• A smaller office market with reduced office floorspace but of higher quality. 
• “Consolidation” of industrial areas and mixed use development of sites no longer 
suited to large scale manufacturing/warehouse use. 
• A wider mix of job opportunities, and higher proportion of SMEs. 
• More Metropolitan character for Harrow town centre, with scale and type of 
development to match including a limited number of tall and/or taller buildings but with 
an enhanced local role in Wealdstone and low key change in Station Road. 

22



• Strategic sites, outside of the town centres, being developed having regard to the 
dominant Harrow residential character in respect of housing types (predominantly 
terraced family), street patterns, plot layouts, set backs and overall quantums of private 
garden space and public open spaces but embracing contemporary and sustainable 
design. 
• Higher densities in Harrow town centre and central Wealdstone – but still 
providing for a range of residential unit sizes and with improved local amenities and 
better integration with the surrounding residential areas and open spaces. 
• More green space, more public space and improved Green Grid links. 
• More sustainable transport choice, a better pedestrian and cycle environment, 
and smoother traffic flow in Station Road. 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B - KEY SITES BY SUB AREA ACROSS THE TOWN 

CENTRE 

 

Station Road 

9 Civic Centre 

10 Station Road opportunity area 

11 Tesco 

12 Greenhill Way North 

13 Greenhill Way Car Park 

 

Harrow Town Centre West 

14 Bradstowe House 

15 College Road West “College Gardens 

Phase 3” 

Harrow Town Centre Central 

16 Havelock Place 

17 51 College Road “Harrow Square” 

18 Harrow-on-the-Hill car park west 

19 Lowlands Recreation Ground 

20 Harrow-on-the-Hill car park east 

 

Harrow Town Centre East 

21 Lyon Road 

22 Gayton Road 

 

 

23



 

  

AAP Site 11 

AAP Site 12 
AAP Site 13 

AAP Site 14 

AAP Site 15 

AAP Site 16 
AAP Site 21 

AAP Site 20 
AAP Site 17 

AAP Site 18 

AAP Site 19 

AAP Site 22 

24



 

 

APPENDIX C - VITALITY INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 

25



 

 

 
 

26


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 information Report - Harrow Town Centre Vision

